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1. SYNOPSIS

1.1 On 20th May 2001 at about 0250 hours, a collision occurred in the entrance
channel to Dublin Port between the St. Vincent and the Grenadines registered
cargo vessel "Bluebird" and the Irish yacht "Debonair". The collision occurred in
a position 0.4 nautical miles to the west of No. 3 buoy in good weather
conditions. Visibility was good at the time. There were four fatalities.
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2. FACTUAL INFORMATION

(1) DESCRIPTION OF THE "BLUEBIRD"

2.1.1 Particulars of the Vessel

Flag: St. Vincent and the Grenadines.
Port of Registry: Kingstown.
Built 1982.
Length overall: 67.42 metres.
Breadth overall: 11.26 metres.
Depth moulded: 5.01 metres.
Gross tonnage: 1115.
Net tonnage: 623.
Draft: Fwd 4.00m.  Aft 4.30m.
Main Engine: One 6 cylinder Anglo-Belgian Corp. 1192 kW motor engine

giving a ballast speed of 11.75 knots.

2.1.2 Description of the Vessel

Steel, single screw, general cargo, motor vessel with two holds and one hatch
cover. Vessel was on passage from Cowes, Isle of Wight, to Dublin Port with a
cargo of wheat (1521 tonnes). Photographs of the vessel are given in Appendix
12.1

2.1.3 Main Navigation Aids provided on board.

Magnetic Compass: One John Lilley & Gillie Ltd.
Gyro Compass: One Sperry.
Autopilot: One Decca Pilot 450.
Radars: One Sperry Marine SM 5000R

One Koden MD 3751.
GPS: One Micrologic ML-250.
VHF: One Stn Atlas Debeg 6348

One DSC Controller Stn Atlas Debeg 3817R
One Sailor RT 144C

MF/HF: One DSC Controller Stn Atlas Debeg 3818
Depth Recorder: One Simbad ED 161
Navtex Receiver: One Furuno NX 500

2.1.4 There were 6 crewmembers on board and the vessel was manned in accordance
with the Safe Manning Document on board the vessel.
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2. FACTUAL INFORMATION

(1) DESCRIPTION OF THE "DEBONAIR"

2.2.1 Particulars of the Vessel

"Debonair" is a 30 foot Club Shamrock yacht with the sail number IRL 4. Mark
Styles purchased the yacht around 1998. The engine on board was a Volvo Penta
MD 7A twin cylinder diesel that was reconditioned in 2000. The engine was
estimated to give a speed of about 5 knots.

2.2.2 Navigation Aids provided on board.

GPS: One Garmin GPS 38.
One Datamarine Dart 7.

VHF: One Navico RT 6500S
There was also One Dataline Central display and one Dataline Databox.

2.2.3 Lifesaving Appliances on board.

As far as can be established the following lifejackets were on board the
"Debonair".
One Baltic Lifejacket 150 newton - manual operation.
One Lalizas Omega CE 150 - manual operation.
One Helly-Hansen buoyancy aid - 10 to 12 stone.
One adult size Slimfit Crewsaver buoyancy aid.
One buoyancy aid – up to 10 stone.
Two children’s buoyancy aids.
One adult Helly-Hansen buoyancy aid.

As far as can be established the following pyrotechnics were on board the
"Debonair".
One red parachute flare (expired 12/96)
One red hand flare (expired 4/83)
One hand orange flare (expired 4/96)
One red hand flare (expired 12/96)

There was also two horseshoe lifebuoys at the after end of the yacht.

2.2.4 The following crewmembers were on board the "Debonair" at the time of
the collision.

Mark Styles     Glen Styles     Philip Daley     Roan Smith     Eleanor Cullen
Mark and Glen Styles had considerable sailing experience from a very young
age. Mark Styles purchased his first cruiser around 1991. Philip Daley had been
sailing for about 15 years. Roan Smith had about 2 years sailing experience.
Eleanor Cullen’s sailing experience is not known.
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3. FACTUAL REPORT OF THE EVENTS PRIOR TO THE INCIDENT AS
TAKEN FROM THE ACCOUNT OF THE PERSONNEL CONNECTED
WITH THE "BLUEBIRD"

3.1 At about 0000 hours on 20th May 2001, the "Bluebird" called Dublin Port Radio
and advised the Port that she was about two hours away. At 0205 hours the
"Bluebird" called again and advised that she was now 30 minutes from the pilot
boarding position.

3.2 At this time the Dublin Port Radio Operator called the Duty Pilot John McKenna.
Mr. McKenna is a Dublin Class 2 Pilot with 35 years experience in all classes of
vessels and 28 months in the Dublin Port Pilots at the time of the incident. He
is the holder of a First Mates Foreign Going Certificate of Competency with a
Master Near Continental Command Endorsement. The Dublin Port pilot roster
system operates over a twelve-day cycle, which consists of six days when the
pilot is on duty or on standby followed by six days when the pilot is on rest
period. Mr. McKenna had returned to work from his rest period on 18th May
2001 at 1000 hours. 

3.3 On the 19th May 2001, Mr. McKenna came on duty at 1815 hours for a one-hour
job. He was in the process of training for a Class I Pilots licence. He went out
for the "Bro Traveller" at 2145 hours with a Class I Pilot. They were back in the
station at approximately 2300 hours.

3.4 He was called at 0210 hrs approx. as the "Bluebird", which was the vessel he
was to pilot into the port, was 30 minutes from the boarding area. He left the
station at about 0225hrs in the pilot boat "Tolka" to board the "Bluebird". The
"Bluebird" was inbound from Cowes in the U.K. with a draft of 4.3 metres
approx. and it was intended to berth at berth 29. 

3.5 The night was clear, with no wind and to all intents and purposes the sea was
flat calm. Visibility was excellent. The Met Eireann weather report is included
at Appendix 12.2.

3.6 After boarding the pilot boat, which had a crew of two, Mr. David Byrne
(Coxswain) and Mr. John Murphy (crew), they left the pontoon beside the pilot
station and proceeded down the channel. There was no other traffic in the
channel. On the way down the river, when abeam of berth 49, the pilot called
the "Bluebird" on VHF Channel 12 from the pilot cutter and advised that he
would board the "Bluebird" between the Racon buoy and No.1 buoy. A chart
extract of the entrance to Dublin Port is given in Appendix 12.3.
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3.7 As the pilot cutter proceeded down the channel they observed two white lights,
apparently from a yacht under power with no sail proceeding seawards. As the
pilot cutter passed him by, the lights changed from white to green passing
down his starboard side. The yacht was on the North side of the channel,
heading east. The pilot cutter continued down the channel and Mr. McKenna
boarded the "Bluebird" between the Racon buoy and No.1 buoy.

3.8 The "Bluebird" had reduced speed to 5-6 knots to facilitate the pilot boarding.
When the pilot arrived on the bridge he spoke to the Master and obtained all
relevant information on the ship from him. The pilot reported the draft of the
vessel and the last port to the Port Radio. The pilot was advised to proceed to
berth 29 and that the channel inbound was clear.

3.9 The "Bluebird" proceeded towards the channel entrance. As the vessel
approached Nos. 3 and 4 buoys, steering approximately 300°(True), the pilot
and the Master observed 2 red lights apparently to the south side of the
channel. The pilot immediately remembered that he had passed a yacht on the
way out and he assumed the yacht was the same one as seen previously. The
course to steer up channel from Nos. 3 and 4 buoys is 270° (True) approx.
depending on tidal conditions. 

3.10 As the yacht was on the south side of the channel the "Bluebird" came around
to 290° (True) approx. and at this point, the pilot recalls that the "Bluebird"
was on the north side of the channel and then the "Bluebird" came slowly to
port to about 285°(True). At this stage the pilot observed the "Debonair" still
heading East and about 22.5° off the port bow of the "Bluebird". At this time
the pilot realised he needed to alter course to 270° (True) approx. but he
observed that the "Debonair" was still showing a red light.

3.11 Mr. McKenna decided to wait until the "Debonair" had passed to bring the
"Bluebird" around to 270° (True). At this stage the pilot assumed that a normal
red-to-red passing of the two vessels would take place, as the "Bluebird" was on
the North side of the channel and the "Debonair" was on the South side. The
"Bluebird" was proceeding at a manoeuvring speed, which the pilot believes was
about 7 knots. The "Debonair" was coming down on the port side with the ebb
tide behind her. The situation at all times appeared quite normal and no
attempt was made to converse on the VHF, as the pilot did not think it
necessary. Pilots do not normally communicate with yachts whilst piloting.

8

CONTD.EVENTS PRIOR TO THE INCIDENT



9

4. FACTUAL REPORT OF THE EVENTS PRIOR TO THE INCIDENT AS
TAKEN FROM THE ACCOUNT OF THE SURVIVOR ON BOARD THE
"DEBONAIR" - MR. PHILIP DALEY

4.1 The yacht "Debonair" sailed from Malahide Marina on Saturday 19th May 2001 at
approximately 1130 hours. On board were Mark Styles, Glen Styles, Philip Daley,
Roan Smith and Ian Bull. The yacht was on route to the marina pontoon on the
Liffey adjacent to Jury's Inn. A berth had been booked earlier in the week so as
to view the fire-works display that was taking place that night.

4.2 Mark and Glen Styles, who had considerable sailing experience from a very
young age shared the skipper's duties to Dublin.

4.3 A number of automatic and manually inflated lifejackets were on board. They
were kept in a wet locker in the galley area. The lifejackets were worn when
on deck. There were also 3 or 4 children’s lifejackets and some older
lifejackets for adults, which were stowed in a bag in the forward cabin. The
crew were aware of how to inflate the lifejackets, which were approximately 2
years old. There was no liferaft on board.

4.4 There was a Nautical Almanac on board which also covered the U.K. There was
also a chart, which covered the area from Carlingford to Bray. The positions of
the yacht were not being plotted on a chart.

4.5 On arrival at Poolbeg Yacht Club at about 1430 hours they enquired in the club
if any information in respect of the bridge opening was available. There was
industrial action ongoing with pickets on the Eastlink Bridge and it was
suggested the pickets might be taking an extended tea break to allow the Port
Authority access to the bridge lifting control area.

4.6 The information available to the crew of the "Debonair" was that the bridge was
due to open at 1500 hours and again at 1530 hours to allow the many craft
enter for the evening’s festivities. Mr. Daley recalls that they departed from the
Poolbeg Yacht Club at about 1440 hours and took up a holding position just on
the sea side of the bridge in anticipation of the bridge opening. 

4.7 On arrival at the bridge it was clearly visible that reinforcements to the picket
line had been called in to prevent any opening of the bridge. After a short
time, the crew put Glen Styles ashore on the north side of the river just below
the bridge and he tried to reason with the picketers but to no avail. Glen Styles
rejoined "Debonair" along with Mark Styles’ son. The yacht continued to hold a
position at the bridge for a short while and then returned to Poolbeg Yacht Club
at about 1600 hours rafting up at the pontoon alongside two other yachts and
then proceeded to the Clubhouse at about 1630 hours. They were rafted third
boat out.
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4.8 On arrival at Poolbeg Yacht Club they were joined by various family members
and friends. Mark Styles left with his family but planned to return to the
"Debonair" later in the evening. They remained in Poolbeg Yacht Club socialising
until shortly before 2200 hours when the fireworks display was due to begin.
They watched the fireworks from the boat rafted second out. Eleanor Cullen
joined them and Ian Bull and others departed for their respective homes
sometime after 2300 hours. 

4.9 Mr. Daley does not recall going back to the clubhouse after the fireworks but he
states that some people may have gone back to use the toilets. It proved
impractical to try to sleep on board as the pontoon at Poolbeg was quite small
and there was a considerable amount of movement so it was felt by those on
board that the "Debonair" should return to Howth. Because of the tides the
crew estimated that the yacht would have been unable to enter Malahide until
0800/ 0830 hours on Sunday morning. As the crew had planned to collect their
respective families and visit the parade in the city centre on Sunday afternoon
they felt that they could complete most of the voyage and be ready for an
early arrival in Malahide.

4.10 The "Debonair" departed from Poolbeg Yacht Club at approximately 0215 hours
and having turned into the river, Mark Styles, Roan Smith and Eleanor Cullen
retired to their bunks below for the night. Glen Styles was standing at the helm
and Philip Daley stayed on deck with him to keep him company, as it was Mr
Daley’s policy not to leave anybody on their own. Also, somebody would need
to assist with the berthing of the boat in Howth, which they expected to reach
within approximately 2 hours. As they departed from the clubhouse and
commenced their journey down river, Philip Daley was standing in front of the
compass between the wheel and the cabin and both Philip Daley and Glen
Styles noticed a large ship in the distance. Mr Daley cannot recall its lights or
how far away it was. He does not recall seeing any other ships. They carried no
sail at that time and were proceeding under power. 

4.11 It became a little cool and Philip Daley descended into the cabin to get his
sailing jacket and also to get lifejackets for both Glen Styles and himself. He
estimates that he must have been below deck for at least 5 minutes. He
located two lifejackets, fitted one on himself and then returned to deck and
handed Glen Styles a lifejacket. At that time, Eleanor Cullen appeared and
joined Glen Styles and Philip Daley on the deck with Eleanor Cullen sitting in
the aft of the boat on the port side. 

4.12 At the time that Philip Daley emerged from below and handed the lifejacket to
Glen Styles, he was at all times standing between the wheel and the cabin
entrance, facing towards the stern of the boat and when Eleanor Cullen came
up, she sat down in the after end. Philip Daley remained facing towards the
stern of the boat. Philip Daley’s return from below and Eleanor Cullen’s arrival
would have been more or less at the same time. The engine of the "Debonair" is
located below the cockpit and is quite noisy. It can accordingly be difficult to
hear the VHF radio even though the "Debonair" has an outdoor speaker. 
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5. THE INCIDENT

(1) FACTUAL REPORT OF THE INCIDENT AS TAKEN FROM THE ACCOUNT OF THE
PERSONNEL CONNECTED WITH THE "BLUEBIRD"

5.1.1 When about two ships lengths away from the yacht, the pilot and the Master of
the "Bluebird" suddenly observed the sidelights of the "Debonair" changing from
red to green. The moon was shining and the pilot could actually see the hull
outline alter course across the channel. Mr. McKenna told the Master to
continuously sound the whistle as a warning without a break and stop engines
and then go full astern. The "Bluebird" has engine control from the bridge. The
engines responded quickly and the vessel’s head slewed slowly to starboard.
The yacht continued its alteration to port right across the bow of the
"Bluebird".

5.1.2 The Chief Officer, who was on the forecastle head of the "Bluebird", looked
around when he heard the whistle sounding and saw a yacht on the port side,
altering course to port. When the yacht started coming more quickly to port,
the Chief Officer shouted at the yacht "what are you doing". He recalls seeing
the face of the helmsman and maybe two other persons. When he saw the
yacht’s mast getting close to him he stepped back and heard a blow as the
mast hit the bulwark of the "Bluebird". The yacht disappeared under the
forecastle head, the "Bluebird’s" engines still going full astern.

5.1.3 On the bridge of the "Bluebird" they felt a bump and the yacht came out under
the "Bluebird’s" starboard bow. At this stage the Captain stopped the engine, in
case there were any persons in the water. The yacht was next seen on the
starboard bow. However before the yacht reached midships it sank. The Captain
saw one person come to the surface of the water. Then the Captain released
the starboard bridge wing lifebuoy (fitted with smoke and light). The crew also
released a lifebuoy with a light attached. The Captain activated the GPS man
overboard button. This was timed at 0252, the position readout was 
53° 20.584N 06° 07.367W. This position is given in Appendix 12.3. An aerial
photograph of the area is given in Appendix 12.4. Lookouts were posted on the
forecastle head, on the poop to port and starboard and on the bridge wings in
order to look for survivors.
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(2) FACTUAL REPORT OF THE INCIDENT AS TAKEN FROM THE ACCOUNT OF THE
SURVIVOR ON BOARD THE "DEBONAIR" - MR PHILIP DALEY

5.2.1 Eleanor Cullen and Philip Daley had returned to the cockpit for only a very
short time when suddenly Philip Daley heard a ship’s siren, turned around to
look forward and all he recollects seeing is a 'wall of steel' right off the
starboard bow. He had not seen the vessel before this. 

5.2.2 Philip Daley cannot state with certainty what the exact position of the
"Debonair" was in the channel. He does not know what their course was at the
time of collision. He was absolutely shocked and had no time to either shout a
warning or have any communication with Glen Styles or Eleanor Cullen. He does
not have a recollection of the moment of collision but he vividly remembers
taking a large breath and is not sure if he jumped into the water or was thrown
clear.

5.2.3 At the time of collision Roan Smith and Mark Styles were still in their bunks in
the main cabin.

5.2.4 The next memory Philip Daley has is fighting for his life, looking for the surface
of the water and struggling to find the ripcord on the life jacket. Not having
found one he presumed he was wearing an automatic life jacket. Both
automatic and manual life jackets were on board. Philip Daley recalls that he
had no air remaining in his lungs and had to try and breathe.  

5.2.5 Suddenly Mr. Philip Daley broke the surface of the water. He has no other
recollection of the incident and all he recollects is being pulled aboard a boat.
He insisted on remaining with his rescuers to assist with the search for his
friends, but due to the cold was transferred to the Howth Lifeboat, brought to
Dun Laoghaire Harbour and transferred to St. Michael’s Hospital.

5.2.6 Glen Styles was in charge of the navigation after leaving Poolbeg Yacht Club at
about 0215 hours. He was also keeping look-out. The "Debonair" was being
steered by eye. Glen Styles was standing at the helm at all times, as it was not
comfortable to sit down and steer.

5.2.7 Mr. Philip Daley states that the "Debonair" would have stayed, as a matter of
course, within the navigation channel out of Dublin Port. They would not
intentionally sail outside the channel. He was not aware of Dublin Port
Company Notice to Mariners No. 7 of 2001, which states that "small boats
sailing, rowing or proceeding under power within the limits of the Harbour are
strictly required to keep out of the fairway channel". A copy of this notice is
given in Appendix 12.5. The MCIB cannot confirm whether the helmsman or any
other crewmember on the "Debonair" were aware of this Marine Notice.

5.2.8 Mr. Philip Daley estimates that the speed of the "Debonair" would have been 4
knots up to 4.5 knots maximum.
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5.2.9 The positions of the boat were not being noted on a chart. Mr. Daley does not
recall the course of the "Debonair" at all down the river. The autopilot was not
in operation. He does not recall the position of the engine controls at the time
of the accident.

5.2.10 Mr. Philip Daley does not recall any steering problem with the "Debonair". The
steering cables had been replaced in 2000. He was not aware of any equipment
malfunctioning.

5.2.11 Mr. Daley’s recollection is that the navigation lights being displayed at the time
of collision were a red and green combined light on the top of the mast and
also a red and green combined light forward and a white light aft.

5.2.12 Mr. Daley’s recollection is that the starboard side of the "Bluebird" and the
starboard side of the "Debonair" collided. He is not sure of the angles of
contact. The yacht was struck maybe one third of the way back from its bow.
He does not recall the yacht altering course to port.

5.2.13 Philip Daley thinks that Glen Styles had his lifejacket on but Eleanor Cullen had
no lifejacket on.

5.2.14 Mr. Daley stated that he had consumed about 4 or 5 pints of beer throughout
the day. He does not know how much alcohol Glen Styles, Roan Smith or
Eleanor Cullen had consumed. He recalls that Mark Styles had been elsewhere
at a party.  

5.2.15 The decision to leave Poolbeg Yacht Club for Howth was reached by consensus
and nobody objected. Mr. Daley stated that he was not unhappy leaving at this
time. He would have raised his objections if he was not happy with the
decision. 

5.2.16 The draft of the "Debonair" was about 1.9m. They could only berth in Malahide
around two hours each side of High Water.
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6. EVENTS FOLLOWING THE INCIDENT

6.1 The pilot called Dublin Port Radio and advised them that the "Bluebird" had
been in collision with a yacht. He then called Dublin Coastguard Radio on
channel 16. MRCC Dublin broadcast a Mayday Relay and tasked a helicopter and
Howth and Dun Laoghaire lifeboats. The pilot cutter, which was inbound and
approaching the Poolbeg light, returned to the scene to search for survivors.
The pilot instructed the Master to put the rudder hard to port and engines dead
slow ahead, keeping both lifebuoy lights, which they could clearly see, in view.
The vessel was then turned and headed back down the channel towards the two
lifebuoy lights. 

6.2 The pilot boat was returning down the channel at this stage towards the
casualty and due to the limited manoeuvrability of the "Bluebird" in confined
water, the pilot instructed the pilot boat to search between and close to the
two white lifebuoy lights. Both the Master and Chief Officer of the "Bluebird"
stated that when they returned to the collision position they heard someone
screaming in the water on the port beam. They tried to locate the person using
the searchlight, after stopping the engine, but were unable to do so. 

6.3 When the pilot boat arrived they picked up one survivor, Mr. Philip Daley, who
was wearing an uninflated lifejacket. He informed the pilot boat crew that
there were a total of 5 persons on the yacht. A second person, who was face
down in the water and was also wearing an uninflated lifejacket, was found but
the pilot boat crew lost their grip on this person and the body drifted away.
Shortly afterwards they came across another person, face down with no
lifejacket. This body was recovered at about 0341 hours by the Dun Laoghaire
lifeboat, which had arrived at about 0315 hours. One of the lifeboat crew
entered the water in order to recover the body, which is now known to be the
body of Mr. Roan Smith.

6.4 The pilot, Mr. John McKenna, acted as on scene commander until the arrival of
the Dun Laoghaire lifeboat, which then carried out these duties. As the box
search continued the lifeboat requested the pilot to come off the "Bluebird" to
assist with details of the search. The pilot was put on the workboat
"Shakespeare", which had also arrived to assist in the search for survivors. The
exact location of the collision was identified to the Skipper of the
"Shakespeare". The vessel then searched up and down for survivors and the
wreckage using the Sonar/Echo sounder on board the "Shakespeare". A number
of other vessels, including the Howth lifeboat, "Tolka", "Dodder" and the rescue
boat from the "Jonathan Swift" also assisted in the search. 

6.5 At about 0640 hours the helicopter crew advised that they could see oil
bubbling to the surface, close to the collision position. The helicopter marked
the position with a dye marker.
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6.6 After the helicopter had marked the position the "Shakespeare" went up and
dropped a marker buoy with a weight on it at that position. The vessel then
pulled away from the marked position and the Dublin Port divers and Garda
divers moved into the area of the casualty. 

6.7 At 0752 hours, Garda divers entered the water and shortly afterwards located
the "Debonair" on the sea bottom in 12 metres of water. The yacht was lying
upright on the sandy bottom with its bow pointing west. There was a lot of
damage to the stern area of the yacht. Shortly afterwards the body of a female
(Eleanor Cullen) was recovered and taken to the surface and transferred to the
Dun Laoghaire lifeboat at 0810 hours.

6.8 At 0942 hours the body of Mr. Mark Styles, which had been recovered from the
yacht, was transferred to the lifeboat by the Garda divers. Further searches of
the yacht continued throughout the day for the one remaining missing person,
but without success.

6.9 On 8th June 2001, a body, wearing an uninflated lifejacket, was sighted in the
water one mile from Ireland’s Eye by the fishing vessel "Silver Strand". The
body, which was subsequently identified to be that of Glen Styles, was
recovered and brought to Howth by the local lifeboat. 
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7. EXAMINATION OF THE WRECK OF THE YACHT "DEBONAIR".

7.1 The wreck of the yacht "Debonair" was recovered on Monday 21st May 2001 and
was stored in the Engineer’s yard in Dublin Port. Over the next two days the
wreck was examined by surveyors from the Marine Survey Office, Department
of Marine and Natural Resources. Photographs of the damaged yacht are given
in Appendix 12.6.

7.2 The hull of the yacht, which was of GRP construction, was broken right across
from the starboard side to the port side, just aft of midship. From the paint
markings on the hull of the yacht it would appear that contact was initially
made on the starboard side of the yacht just aft of midship. Also, the mast of
the yacht made contact with the bulwark forward on the forecastle head of the
"Bluebird". 

7.3 The impact angle would appear to have been about ninety degrees. Other paint
markings would indicate that the yacht was then pushed over onto its port side
to an angle of about ninety degrees with the foot of the keel making contact
with the starboard bow of the "Bluebird". 

7.4 At this point it would appear that the hull of the "Debonair" was already
broken, as there is evidence of red paint on the broken GRP of the yacht. As
there are also red paint markings on the port side of the yacht it would appear
that the yacht was then pushed totally over before finally sinking.

7.5 The engine and gearbox unit of the "Debonair" were also examined as were the
positions of the engine fuel pump lever, the gearbox ahead/neutral/astern
positioning lever, the throttle and direction control lever in the cockpit of the
yacht and the associated (severed) control cables. Based on the positions of the
various controls, after taking into account their positions at the moment that
the cables were severed, it would appear that the engine was operating at
close to full revolutions and that the gearbox was in the ahead mode when the
cables were severed. 

7.6 Examination of the impact damage to the hull, propeller shaft and other items
of equipment would indicate that the severing of the control cables was
consistent with the collision damage and probably occurred at the time of
collision.

7.7 Accordingly, it would appear that the engine on the "Debonair" was operating in
the ahead mode and was close to full revolutions at the time of the collision.

7.8 The steering gear on the "Debonair" was also examined. Modifications were
carried out to the original design but there was no reason to believe from the
inspection that the steering malfunctioned. There was damage to the steering
but again this was consistent with the collision damage and probably occurred
at the time of the collision.
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8. INFORMATION OBTAINED FROM THE RADAR RECORDINGS FROM
DUBLIN PORT.

8.1 Recordings of the events leading up to the incident were obtained from the
radars at Dublin Port Company. The following information was obtained directly
from real time radar reruns of these recordings and the measurements were
electronically calculated. The recordings as indicated are reproduced in
Appendix 12.7.

8.2 The recordings show that the "Debonair" departed from the Poolbeg Yacht club
at 0215 hours.

8.3 The recording for the time 02:28:56, given at Appendix 12.7(F1), shows the
track history of the yacht from the time of departure up to that time. The
measured speed of the yacht at 0228 hours is about 5.92 knots over the ground.

8.4 At 0233, the pilot boat, outward bound to the "Bluebird", passes the yacht. At
0235, the pilot boat passes through the breakwater. At 0238, the "Debonair" is
abeam of buoys No. 7 and No. 8. Shortly afterwards the yacht passes through
the breakwater and at 0243 hours she passes very close to No. 5 buoy. 

8.5 After this, the yacht steers a course towards the south side of the fairway
channel as shown by the track history for 02:45:43, given at Appendix 12.7(F2).
The measured speed of the yacht at 02:45:30 hours is about 5.95 knots over the
ground.

8.6 At 0243 hours, the "Bluebird" passes No.1 buoy as she enters the port with the
pilot on board. At this time also the dredger "Krankaloon" is approaching No.1
buoy as she departs the port, with the "Bluebird" on her port side. 

8.7 A radar recording for 02:48:07 hours is reproduced at Appendix 12.7(F3), which
shows the "Bluebird" and "Debonair" approaching each other. The measured
speed of the "Bluebird" over the ground at 0249 hours is 9.7 knots on a heading
of 290° (True). The speed of the "Debonair" at 02:48:30 hours is measured at
5.93 knots.

8.8 The radar recording for 02:50:01 hours is reproduced in Appendix 12.7(F4). This
shows the "Bluebird" on a course of 277° (True) with a speed of 8.7 knots, as it
appears to have altered to port to follow the course of the channel. The
"Debonair" would appear to be passing clear on the port side. 

8.9 The radar recording for 02:51:01 hours is reproduced in Appendix 12.7(F5). This
shows the echoes of the two vessels merging. The "Bluebird" appears to be in a
position approximately midway between mid-channel and the northern edge of
the channel, whereas the track history of the "Debonair" shows that she has
come from the south side of the channel across to the north side.
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8.10 The radar recording for 02:51:13 hours is reproduced in Appendix 12.7(F6). This
shows the track history of the "Debonair" as she departed from the port.
Further recordings show the "Bluebird" returning to the collision position and
also other craft arriving in order to assist in the search for survivors.

8.11 The above details are the best information that can be obtained from the
recordings taken into account the size of the echoes and the time scale
involved. The times given on the radar recordings are 17 seconds fast.
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9. OTHER MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED.

9.1 Both the Garmin GPS 38 and the Datamarine Dart 7 GPS`s were recovered from
the "Debonair" and were sent for inspection to C-Map Limited in the U.K. Both
units were stripped down and investigated and were both found to have
suffered severe seawater corrosion. No information could be obtained from
either unit regarding the track of the "Debonair" or its position at the time of
the collision. 

9.2 The tidal flow at the time of the collision would have been in a mainly East
North Easterly direction with an estimated rate of 0.8 knots. 

9.3 Post-mortem examination results of all four victims showed that death was due
to drowning. Toxicology examinations were also carried out and these revealed
that all four victims were moderately intoxicated by alcohol at the time of
their deaths. It was stated by the Deputy State Pathologist at the Coroner’s
Court that the alcohol levels present might have led to problems with 
co-ordination. 
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10. CONCLUSIONS AND FINDINGS.

10.1 This collision was caused because the International Regulations for Preventing
Collisions at Sea, 1972, as amended, were not observed. Compliance with these
regulations is a requirement for all vessels upon the high seas and in all waters
connected therewith navigable by seagoing vessels.

10.2 Rule 5 of the International Regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea, 1972, as
amended, states that "every vessel shall at all times maintain a proper look-
out by sight and hearing as well by all available means appropriate in the
prevailing circumstances and conditions so as to make a full appraisal of the
situation and of the risk of collision". From the survivor’s account it would
appear that the crew of the "Debonair" were not aware of the presence of the
"Bluebird" until the cargo ship’s whistle sounded. Rule 5 is reproduced in
Appendix 12.8.

10.3 Rule 9 of the International Regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea, 1972, as
amended, deals with the conduct of vessels when navigating in a narrow
channel or fairway. The applicable parts of Rule 9 state:

"(a)  A vessel proceeding along the course of a narrow channel or fairway shall
keep as near to the outer limit of the channel or fairway that lies on her
starboard side as is safe and practicable.

(b)  A vessel of less than 20 metres in length or a sailing vessel shall not impede
the passage of a vessel which can safely navigate only within a narrow
channel or fairway.

(c)  Not applicable.

(d)  A vessel shall not cross a narrow channel or fairway if such crossing
impedes the passage of a vessel which can safely navigate only within such
channel or fairway. The latter vessel may use the sound signal prescribed in
Rule 34(d) if in doubt as to the intention of the crossing vessel".

In compliance with the above the "Debonair" should have kept to the starboard
side of the fairway (Rule 9 (a)), due to her length should have kept out of the
way of the "Bluebird" (Rule 9 (b)) and should not have crossed the fairway and
impeded the passage of the "Bluebird" (Rule 9 (d)). Rule 9 is reproduced in
Appendix 12.8. 
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10.4 Dublin Port Company Notice to Mariners No. 7 of 2001 in paragraph 4 states
"that small boats sailing, rowing or proceeding under power within the limits
of the harbour are strictly required to keep out of the fairway channel". The
surviving member of the crew of the "Debonair" was not aware of the existence
of this Notice. Prior to the accident the notice was forwarded to the sailing
clubs in the Dublin Bay area from Howth to Dun Laoghaire inclusive. Following
the accident the notice was forwarded to all sailing clubs from Skerries to
Greystones inclusive. A copy of the notice is given in Appendix 12.5. Rule I (b)
of the International Regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea, 1972, as
amended, allows Dublin Port to make such rules. Rule 1 is reproduced in
Appendix 12.8. 

-  Also Bye-Law XXXI of the Port and Harbour of Dublin states that "small boats,
sailing or rowing, within the limits of the Harbour, are strictly required to
keep out of the fairway channel of the river".

-  While the Dublin Port Company Notice to Mariners and Bye-Law regulations
pertaining to small craft were in place, it would appear that Dublin Port
Company was aware that some small craft from outside the Howth to Dun
Laoghaire area did not comply with this Notice or Regulation as they were
not aware of same.

-  While the Dublin Port Company Notice to Mariners and Bye-Law regulations
pertaining to small craft movements did exist and it was recognised that
some small craft were not aware of these regulations, there was no
monitoring, controlling and enforcing of its own regulations by Dublin Port
Company.

-  Notwithstanding the Dublin Port Company Notice to Mariners and Bye-Law
regulations, all small craft are required to comply with Rule 9 of the
International Regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea, 1972, as amended.

10.5 It is unclear as to what took place concerning the navigation of the "Debonair"
after leaving Poolbeg Boat and Yacht Club, as the helmsman did not survive the
accident. From the sole survivor’s statement it is not possible to draw any
definite conclusions regarding the cause of the alteration of course immediately
preceding the collision. Whatever occurred to the yacht would appear to have
taken place suddenly and with little or no forewarning to the crew on board, as
no time was available in order to raise the alarm or to attempt to take evasive
action. It is the Board’s view that the helmsman on the “Debonair” was not
monitoring the steering progress of the yacht. Some of the possible reasons for
lack of monitoring may be:

(a) that the distance between the two vessels was misjudged.
(b) the helmsman may have been distracted by the arrival of the two

crewmembers in the cockpit.
(c) the helmsman may have had problems with co-ordination, for the reasons as

outlined in paragraph 9.3.
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10.6 Furthermore, the crew of the "Debonair" were not aware of the dangerous
position that the yacht had reached, prior to the collision. As visibility was
good, any ships or navigation channel buoys should have been visible to them.     

10.7 The initial divers’ survey revealed that there was substantial damage to the
stern area of the yacht with the hull cracked open in several places.

10.8 From all available information it would appear that all the steering and
navigational equipment on board the "Debonair" was operating correctly.

10.9 As the "Bluebird" was proceeding inwards and passing the bend in the channel
between Buoys 3 and 4, the vessel was near to mid-channel. The respective
positions of the "Bluebird" and "Debonair" at this time are shown in Appendix
12.7 (F4). The position of the "Bluebird" at this time appears to have had no
bearing on the subsequent collision with the "Debonair". Both vessels were
approximately 0.28 nautical miles (510 metres) apart and the "Debonair" was on
the southern side of the channel showing port light.

Appendix 12.7 (F5) shows the position of the vessels at the time of the
collision. This shows the "Bluebird" in a position approximately midway between
mid-channel and the northern edge of the channel. However it also shows the
"Debonair" in this location. It is clear that the "Debonair" had moved from the
southern side of the channel across onto the northern side of the channel into
the path of the oncoming "Bluebird".

10.10 The "Debonair" was not maintaining its position on a navigational chart.

10.11 At the Coroner’s Court, the survivor – Mr. Philip Daley, was questioned regarding
alleged information he had given to Mr. Michael Duffy {a crewmember on board
the Howth lifeboat} following his rescue from the water and prior to being put
ashore at Dun Laoghaire. The deposition of Mr. Duffy stated that Mr. Daley had
described to him, amongst other details, various alterations of course taken by
the "Debonair" prior to the collision with the "Bluebird". However when
questioned, Mr. Daley stated that he had no recollection of the "Debonair"
altering course to port. Furthermore he has no recollection of the conversation
with Mr. Duffy.

10.12 In his deposition to the Coroner’s Court, the survivor – Mr. Philip Daley stated
that "we were in the bar until around one o’clock". This conflicts with his
recollection to the MCIB Investigator (given at paragraph 4.9) which states "Mr.
Daley does not recall going back to the clubhouse after the fireworks but he
states that some people may have gone back to use the toilets".
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Other findings

10.13 The navigation lights being displayed by the yacht at the time of the collision
were not in compliance with Rule 23 of the International Regulations for
Preventing Collisions at Sea, 1972, as amended. Rule 23 is given in Appendix
12.8. It would appear that the lights being displayed by the "Debonair" were the
combined sidelights and stern light in the one lantern at the top of the mast
and also sidelights and stern light on the cabin top.

10.14 The un-inflated Baltic lifejacket, which was worn by the survivor Mr. Philip
Daley, was examined and tested. This was a manually inflatable lifejacket only.
The tests revealed that the lifejacket inflated normally when manually
operated by pulling the pull cord and did not appear to have any leaks. 

10.15 The un-inflated Lalizas Omega CE 150 lifejacket, which was found on the
recovered body of Mr. Glen Styles, was examined and tested. This lifejacket
was found to have two methods of inflation, both of which were manual. The
primary method was by means of a standard 33gramme CO2 gas cylinder, which
was fired by a manually operated pull chord and attached toggle. The
secondary method of inflation was by a simple blow tube with a one-way valve,
which allows the wearer to orally inflate the jacket. The inflation tube had its
protective cap still attached, which suggests that it had not been used. 

The examination revealed that there was no automatic inflation mechanism
present. The manual inflation mechanism was found to be in good condition.
The plastic toggle was attached to the pull chord, which was properly attached
to the inflation mechanism. The green plastic indicator tab was still present in
its original position, which showed that the firing mechanism for the CO2
cylinder had not been activated. The tests revealed that the lifejacket inflated
normally when manually operated by pulling the pull cord and did not appear
to have any leaks. 

The pull cord was operated several times and it was found that both the
mechanism and the firing pin were in good condition and in working order.
Although worn by Mr. Glen Styles the lifejacket had not been inflated, either
orally or manually.   

10.16 The rescue attempts began at once and, although the outcome was tragic,
those who took part deserve credit for their prompt and efficient efforts.
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11. RECOMMENDATIONS.

11.1 It is recommended that the Department of Communications, Marine and Natural
Resources highlight the danger of the consumption of alcohol by Masters and
crews of any vessel. The Department, after appropriate consultation, should
consider the promotion of legislation to introduce a breath test. The legislation
should set maximum blood alcohol levels for seafarers on duty.                          

The International Maritime Organisation has also addressed this issue. Section B
of the 1995 revised International Convention on Standards of Training,
Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers (STCW 78/95) includes the
following:

"Drug and alcohol abuse directly affect the fitness and ability of a seafarer to
perform watchkeeping duties. Seafarers found to be under the influence of
drugs or alcohol should not be permitted to perform watchkeeping duties until
they are no longer impaired in their abilities to perform those duties."           

STCW 78/95 came into effect in February 1997. Administrations (including
Ireland) are asked to consider developing national legislation prescribing a
maximum of 0.08% blood alcohol level (i.e. 80 milligrammes of alcohol in 100
millilitres of blood) during watchkeeping duty as a minimum safety standard on
their ships and prohibiting the consumption of alcohol within 4 hours prior to
serving as a member of a watch. Adequate measures should be taken to
prevent alcohol and drugs from impairing the ability of watchkeeping
personnel, and administrations should establish screening programmes. 

11.2 Regular meetings should be convened by all Port Authorities with Sailing Club
Officers and other interested parties to discuss and monitor safety issues.

11.3 During the course of the investigation, it emerged that there were a number of
other incidents involving the movements of small craft and sailing vessels in
Dublin Port on the night of May 19th, 2001. It is recognised that Dublin Port
Company, in consultation with local yacht and boat clubs, did proceed, in May,
2002, with its stated intention to publish its own set of "Guidance Notes for
Leisure Craft" operating within the Port’s area of jurisdiction. See Appendix
12.9 

It is recommend that ALL ports put in place procedures for the monitoring,
controlling and enforcement of any Bye-Laws, Notices to Mariners and Guidance
Notes pertaining to leisure craft movements within their area of jurisdiction.
All required means including Vessel Traffic Schemes, radar, radio, port company
craft, etc. should be utilised for this purpose.
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Appendix 12.6

Photographs showing damaged yacht "Debonair"
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Radar Recordings for Dublin Port (recording for the time 02:28:56)
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Radar Recordings for Dublin Port (recording for the time 02:45:43)
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Radar Recordings for Dublin Port (recording for the time 02:48:07)
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Appendix 12.7

Radar Recordings for Dublin Port (recording for the time 02:50:01)
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Appendix 12.7

Radar Recordings for Dublin Port (recording for the time 02:51:01)
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Appendix 12.7

Radar Recordings for Dublin Port (recording for the time 02:51:13)
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International Regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea, 1972, Rules 1, 5, 9, 23.
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Appendix 12.8

International Regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea, 1972, Rules 1, 5, 9, 23.
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Appendix 12.8

International Regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea, 1972, Rules 1, 5, 9, 23.
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Dublin Bay Guidance Notes for Leisure Craft
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Dublin Bay Guidance Notes for Leisure Craft
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Appendix 12.9

Dublin Bay Guidance Notes for Leisure Craft
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Appendix 12.9

Dublin Bay Guidance Notes for Leisure Craft
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MCIB Response to correspondence received from PHILIP DALEY
12/10/’03

1. Noted

2. Noted and amended where appropriate please see paragraph 5.2.7.

3. There is no evidence to suggest that speed had any bearing on this incident. It
is clear that the "Bluebird" was on reduced speed. A speed of between 8 and 9
knots is moderate for a vessel of this size (see paragraphs 8.7 & 8.8).

With regard to Rule 7, the risk of a collision occurring was created by the
"Debonair" suddenly altering course to Port. The bend in question is not a
"notorious bend". The "Bluebird" altered course by only 13 degrees and this
collision took place approx 500 metres from the bend.

The MCIB is aware of 1 other incident that occurred near to the location of this
incident prior to the introduction of the new channel and bouyage system. This
incident occurred under a different bouyage system and in different
circumstances. It is correct that the "Bluebird" did not keep to the extremity of
the starboard side of the channel at the bend – See paragraph 10.9.

4. We refer to the evidence of Dr. Marie Cassidy while under cross-examination by
Mr. Crosbie as follows: "The real problem is because we don’t have an accurate
estimate of the level at the time of death, all I can say is that the level that
we had was 169 in Glen Styles at post-mortem examination, whereas in Mark
Styles we had a level of 213. So there is a discrepancy between the two of
them. The level in Mark is substantially higher. How people react to alcohol
depends very much on how used they are to drinking, but certainly as we
know, 80 is the limit for driving and above the level of 80 is accepted that
there are problems with co-ordination etc. and therefore he would, although
he may not be obviously intoxicated or drunk, to use the colloquial term, he
may well have had some problem with co-ordination even at a fairly moderate
level."

5. We refer you to our response at 3 above.
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VINCENT & BEATTY Solicitors 5/11/’03 – on behalf of MARK
STYLES (deceased)

The MCIB make the following observations to the relevant issues
raised:

1.1 Our final Report has addressed these issues, in particular you are referred to
paragraphs 10.4, 10.9 and 11.3.

1.2 Please see paragraph 10.11

2.1 Noted – see reply to 4.1 below.

3.1 Please see paragraph 2.2.4
3.2 Noted.
3.3 The MCIB cannot concur with this conclusion.
3.4 The MCIB has received no evidence to suggest that the reason Mr. Mark Styles

returned to the Yacht Club was to ensure that the "Debonair" did not depart,
however, based on the evidence given to the MCIB Investigator by Mr. Philip
Daley, it stated that the "Debonair" departed by general consensus. See
paragraph 5.2.15.

4.1 Having left its berth at the Poolbeg Yacht Club pontoon on the South side of the
Liffey, proceeding down the river in mid-channel, the "Debonair" was tracked
moving to the North side of the channel close to North Bull Lighthouse and No.
5 Buoy, before veering to the South side of the fairway channel (see F.2). The
"Debonair" subsequently moved back to the North side of the channel (see F.5).
Such changes of course are unusual. See also paragraphs 10.4 and 11.3 re:
Monitoring, Control and Enforcement.

4.2 The MCIB has no evidence to prove or disprove this contention.

5.1 The "large" ship noted by Messrs. Philip Daley and Glen Styles was most
probably the "KRANKALOON" as referred to in paragraph 8.6. All of the evidence
received by the MCIB would suggest that the presence of the "Bluebird" was not
noticed by the "Debonair" until such time as the "Bluebird’s" ship’s whistle
sounded, at which time the "Debonair" had turned into the path of the
"Bluebird". It may very well be that Mr. Daley and Mr. Glen Styles were aware of
the importance of keeping a proper watch, however, in this instance it would
appear that they did not do so.

5.2 Noted – see paragraphs 10.4 and 11.3.

6.1 Noted.
6.2 Noted.
6.3 The MCIB did consider all of these matters and would refer you to paragraphs

10.4, 10.9 and 11.3.
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MCIB RESPONSE TO GILL TRAYNOR SOLICITORS FOR ESTATE OF ROAN SMITH 
13TH NOVEMBER, 2003

1. There is clear evidence that the "Bluebird" saw and kept watch on the
"Debonair" on her passage down channel. The pilot gave evidence that they
were aware of the presence of the "Debonair" (see paragraphs 3.7, 3.9 and
3.10). It is also clear that the "Debonair" radically changed course across the
bows of the "Bluebird" giving the "Bluebird" no chance of avoiding the
"Debonair". The "Bluebird", by her actions, did attempt to avoid the collision.

2. The MCIB has no explanation and no evidence has been adduced as to why the
"Debonair" radically changed course.

The 13º alteration of course by the "Bluebird" was necessary for her to stay
within the channel. The portside light of the "Bluebird" was at all times visible
to the "Debonair". There was no apparent reason for the "Debonair" to change
course as passing port-to-port would have allowed both vessels to proceed
safely.

3. It is the finding of the MCIB that the "Bluebird" was travelling at a safe
manoeuvrable speed and was on reduced speed prior to her entry to the port
(see 8.7 and 8.8).

4. The MCIB considered this contention and our conclusions are set out in Section
10. See also paras 5.1.1 and 5.1.2. Risk of collision was created by the
"Debonair" altering course to port.

5. The MCIB disagrees with this contention – see No. 2 above.

6. The MCIB is of the opinion that the Pilot’s assumptions were reasonable in the
circumstances.

7. The Pilot’s actions were reasonable and when it became necessary to alert the
"Debonair" on its sudden change of course, the use of the whistle was the most
appropriate and fastest means of warning.

8. See number 2 above.

9. Rule 9 of the International Regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea, 1972 (as
amended) rather than Rule 14, applies in this situation.

10. The whistle on the "Bluebird" was sounded as soon as it became evident that
the "Debonair" had radically changed course thus putting herself in a collision
situation.

11. The MCIB disagrees with this contention – see paragraph 10.4.
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12. The MCIB disagrees that too great a significance has been attached to the
evidence of the Deputy State Pathologist, Dr. Marie Cassidy. However an extract
of her evidence states:
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13. It is the MCIB’s consideration that the Pilot was keeping a proper watch and
that a normal situation existed until the "Debonair" suddenly altered course to
port. See also 1. above.

14. There is nothing to support this contention and the MCIB does not concur with
same.
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MCIB RESPONSE TO LETTER FROM PHILIP A. CLARKE, LEDWIDGE SOLCTRS.,
ON BEHALF OF THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF GLEN STYLES.

1. Based on the evidence adduced, the Pilot and Captain ("Bluebird") did observe
the "Debonair" prior to the collision and considered that there would be a
‘normal’ port-to-port passing until such time as the "Debonair" altered course
to port.

2. Noted – see paragraph 10.4 and Recommendation 11.3

However it is also noted that the SKYFEST had finished before 11pm and this
incident occurred nearly 4 hours later when no other vessels were in the
vicinity.

3. See paragraph 10.4 and Recommendation 11.3. 

However it should be noted that the Captain ("Bluebird") and the Pilot saw the
"Debonair" approaching and at the time of the collision the fairway was not
"hectic". The only lights in that section of the channel were from the 2 vessels
concerned – the "Bluebird" and "Debonair".

4. See paragraph 10.9.

As regards Appendix 12.7 (F4) the centre of each "echo-blob" represents the
centre of the vessel.

5. See paragraphs 8.8 and 8.9

It is the conclusion of the MCIB that the "Debonair" did cross the channel to the
north side immediately prior to the collision.

6. Because of the lack of evidence from the sole survivor on board the "Debonair"
there is nothing to indicate that the movements of the "Bluebird" caused or
contributed to the sudden alteration of course of the "Debonair".

(i)  The MCIB does not concur with this contention, the "Bluebird" was not on its
port side of the channel at any time, and the red sidelight on board the
"Bluebird" was always visible to the "Debonair".

(ii)  The MCIB disagrees with this contention see (i) above. A course alteration
of 13º cannot be considered "altering drastically to port".

7(a) There is no evidence to suggest that speed had any bearing on this incident. It
is clear that the "Bluebird" was on reduced speed. A speed of between 8 and 9
knots is moderate for a vessel of this size (see paragraphs 8.7 & 8.8).
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There is no evidence that the "Bluebird" was in breach of Rule 8(e) of the
International Regulations for the Prevention of Collisions at Sea 1972, as the
"Bluebird" did go full astern to avoid the collision and gave a full astern order
as soon as possible. The exact combined speeds of the 2 vessels at the time of
the collision is not known, as the "Bluebird" had reduced speed, see paragraphs
5.1.1, 5.1.2, 5.1.3. The Port Company has no speed limit in the channel. It is
the responsibility of each Master to comply with the International Regulations
for the Prevention of Collisions at Sea, 1972 (as amended), the speed of any
vessel may vary depending on prevailing weather conditions at any given time.
In this instance the ‘close quarter’ situation was created by the "Debonair"
altering course to port.

7(b) The collision was caused by the "Debonair’s" alteration to port. Had it
continued on its course no collision would have occurred. However for some
reason it deviated to port, heading towards the "Bluebird" and when the whistle
on the "Bluebird" sounded, the "Debonair" went to port across the bow of the
"Bluebird". At this time had the "Debonair" gone to starboard instead of to port,
a collision would have been avoided.

The small alteration taken by the "Bluebird" (total of 13º) was not done to
avoid a potential collision, but rather to follow the course of the channel. The
"Bluebird" took decisive action to avoid a collision when same became apparent
and went full astern to avoid the "Debonair". We have addressed the position of
the "Bluebird" at the approach to and passing of buoys 3 and 4 in paragraph
10.9. We do not conclude that it was in breach of Rule 8(f)(iii). From the
evidence we conclude that the "Bluebird" was given no chance of avoiding this
collision.
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8 See extract from Deputy State Pathologist Marie Cassidy as follows 
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9 Having considered these submissions our conclusions are set out in this final
Report. It is NOT our conclusion that the "Debonair" had to move to port to
avoid the "Bluebird". The "Debonair" headed towards the "Bluebird" and only
altered course after the whistle on board the "Bluebird" sounded, it then
altered course radically. The red sidelight on the "Bluebird" was at all times
showing to the "Debonair" and there should have been no confusion as to the
"Bluebird’s" course.

The helmsman on the "Debonair" did not take decisive action to avoid collision.
He headed towards the "Bluebird". It is a reasonable conclusion in the
circumstances that the crew of the "Debonair" did not see the "Bluebird".
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MCIB RESPONSE.

The F3 radar recording time has been amended to read 02:48:07. All radar
information given in Section 8 of the Report was obtained directly during real time
radar reruns of the incident and the measurements were electronically calculated.
The positions of the vessels relative to each other are correct.
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MCIB RESPONSE TO LETTER AND COUNSEL’S OPINION FROM AHERN O’SHEA
SOLICITORS ON BEHALF OF THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF ELEANOR CULLEN
(DECEASED).

This response uses the same paragraph numbers used by Ahern O’Shea’s
submission.

5. See paragraph 10.4 of the Final Report.

6. In accordance with evidence given by Mr. Philip Daley (survivor) to the MCIB
Investigator, Ms. Cullen was in the cockpit area at the time of the collision, we
cannot conclude that "it would have been impossible for Ms. Cullen to have
been in the open cockpit at the time of the collision". See paragraph 5.2.1.

7. There is no evidence that the "Bluebird" did not take all safe actions whilst in
the fairway channel. There is clear evidence that the "Bluebird" was aware of,
and kept watch on, the "Debonair" until such time as the "Debonair" radically
altered course to port into the path of the "Bluebird". It is the responsibility of
vessels and their Masters to comply with the International Regulations for the
Prevention of Collisions at Sea, 1972 (as amended), and to comply with local
bye-laws. The evidence indicates that the "Debonair", and those on board, were
not ignored by the Dublin Port Authorities or by those on board the "Bluebird".
There is no evidence to suggest that the Port Company, its servants or agents,
ignored the presence of the "Debonair" in the fairway channel. The "Debonair"
should not have been in the fairway channel in the first instance. There is a
responsibility on every person on board any vessel to have regard for their own
safety. It would appear from your paragraph 6 that the late Ms. Cullen was a
voluntary crewmember. See paragraph 10.4 and Recommendation 11.3 in the
Final Report.

8. The MCIB does not agree with this contention. A careful and full examination of
all evidence and contentions made in writing have been considered and
assessed. This is evident from both the Draft Report and this Final Report.

9/10. The MCIB rejects the contention that the Draft Report/ Final Report have failed
to assess the involvement of the "Bluebird" in the events leading up to the
collision.

The contentions in paragraph 10 are not based on any facts known to the MCIB,
nor is any evidence recited or adduced to support these contentions. The
MCIB’s conclusion is that the "Bluebird" did nothing to cause this collision,
which took place on the North side of the channel. The "Debonair" should have
seen the port sidelight on the "Bluebird" and had the "Debonair" maintained its
course, it would have passed port-to-port safely.
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The "Bluebird" had completed its slight turn (13º alteration to port) and was in
excess of 500metres from the "Debonair". There is no evidence that the
"Bluebird" threatened the "Debonair" nor is there any evidence that the
"Debonair" made any attempt to "escape", until such time as the "Bluebird"
whistle sounded, at which time the "Debonair" radically altered course into the
path of the "Bluebird". See paragraphs 5.1.1 and 5.1.2. of the Report

It is quite clear that insufficient watch was being kept on board the "Debonair".
The fairway in question was 180 metres wide; the "Bluebird", which was on the
north side of the fairway, was 11.2 metres in wide and the "Debonair" was
approximately 2.5 metres wide. There was ample room for the vessels to pass
by safely. The "Debonair" should not have been in the fairway at any time.
When the "Debonair" left Poolbeg Yacht Club, it proceeded downriver in the
channel, veered over to the North Bull Lighthouse and No. 5 buoy, before
altering course to the South side of the channel. The correct course of passage
for the "Debonair" to take on leaving the shelter of the breakwater was to
move out of the fairway where there is ample depth for a vessel of its size.
The fairway is adequately lit so as to allow passage outside of it.

11. It was to be expected that the "Bluebird" would alter course to port to follow
the course of the channel. This would have been evident to the "Debonair" if it
had been maintaining its position on a navigational chart.

12. The orange echoes are similar to the afterglow of a radar target and are not
given every 10 seconds. From a real time radar rerun of the incident the MCIB
estimate that the 13º alteration by the "Bluebird" was made between 02:49:20
and 02:49:40. At Appendix F4 the vessels are about 510 metres apart.

13. As stated above the orange echoes are not given every 10 seconds. The MCIB
estimate that the collision occurred at approximately 02:51:01. The "Bluebird"
maintained a steady course between 02:49:40 and 02:51:01. The "Debonair"
headed into the path of the "Bluebird". This is not the action of a vessel trying
to escape. After the whistle signal there was a large alteration of course to
port by the "Debonair" across the bow of the "Bluebird".

14. It is a reasonable conclusion that the crew of the "Debonair" did not see the
"Bluebird" before the whistle signal for the following reasons:

(a) The helmsman on the "Debonair" headed towards the "Bluebird". He did not
take decisive action and attempt to escape in order to avoid collision. He
altered course into the path of the "Bluebird" after the whistle signal. Even
at this stage if he had altered course to starboard the collision may have
been avoided.

(b) There should have been no confusion regarding the course of the "Bluebird"
as the red sidelight of the "Bluebird" was always visible to the "Debonair".
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(c) According to the survivor Philip Daley, he was not aware of the presence of
the "Bluebird", although he was on deck. It is reasonable to expect that the
presence of the "Bluebird" would have been commented upon by the crew
of the "Debonair", present on deck, if it had been seen prior to the whistle
signal, as the "Debonair" was heading towards the "Bluebird".

15/16.The MCIB cannot accept that the "Debonair" was threatened by the "Bluebird".
As stated above the "Debonair" headed towards the "Bluebird". An alteration of
13º is small and if the "Debonair" had been maintaining its position on a
navigational chart it would have expected this alteration as the "Bluebird" was
being navigated inwards in the channel. Furthermore if the "Debonair" was
aware of its actual position in the channel it would have expected the
"Bluebird" to make the course alteration at the time it did. The purpose of the
sidelights on a vessel is to indicate the direction in which a vessel is heading.
As the red sidelight of the "Bluebird" was always visible to the "Debonair", there
should have been no doubt as to the direction in which the "Bluebird" was
heading.

17. We cannot accept that the helmsman was carrying out his duties in an
impeccable manner. The circumstantial evidence indicates otherwise. See MCIB
response at 9 / 10 above.

18. We have considered the evidence given by Mr. Philip Daley at the Coroner’s
Inquest. However, the Draft Report and this Report accurately recite the
version of events given by Mr. Daley to the MCIB Investigator. However, see
paragraphs 10.11 and 10.12.

19/20.We do not accept that the slight alteration to port by the "Bluebird" (13º) was a
breach of Rule 8 of the International Regulations for the Prevention of
Collisions at Sea, 1972 (as amended). There was no risk of a collision occurring
when the alteration was made. Action taken by the "Bluebird" in navigating the
shipping channel was not action taken to avoid collision.

When a risk of collision subsequently arose because of the "Debonair’s"
movements, the "Bluebird" took appropriate action by sounding its whistle and
going full speed astern. The red light on the "Bluebird" was at all times visible
to the "Debonair" yet it turned to port across the bow of the "Bluebird". The
"Bluebird" was following the course of the channel and the "Debonair" did not
abide or comply with Rule 9 of the International Regulations for Preventing
Collisions at Sea, 1972.

21/22.The speed at which the "Bluebird" was travelling was not a contributory factor
in this collision. There is no evidence to suggest that speed had any bearing on
this incident. It is clear that the "Bluebird" was on reduced speed. A speed of
between 7 and 9 knots is moderate for a vessel of this size. In this instance the
‘close quarter’ situation was created by the "Debonair" altering course to port.
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It is not correct to assert that the Pilot "had no idea how close he would
‘shave’ the "Debonair"". The Pilot kept watch and correctly assumed a red-to-
red passing as the red light was showing on the "Debonair" and was visible to
him at all times until it changed to green when it cut across the "Bluebird’s"
bow. Thus a risk of collision did not exist until that point in time. The Pilot and
the Master of the "Bluebird" took appropriate action in sounding the whistle and
going full speed astern.

As regard the ‘radar’ point, it should be noted that in clear visibility an
alteration of course will be observed quicker by eye than on radar.

It should also be remembered that the red port light was also showing on the
"Bluebird" and should have been seen by the "Debonair". To alter course across
the bow of the "Bluebird" in such circumstances was fatal and caused this tragic
collision.

23/24.This is dealt with in paragraph 10.9 of the Final Report. The MCIB estimate that
the collision occurred at approximately 02:51:01.

It should also be recalled that the "Debonair" should not have been in the
fairway at this location. The course taken by the "Debonair" from the time it
left Poolbeg marina was erratic.

25. All the evidence presented to the MCIB indicates that the Master of the
"Bluebird" activated the GPS "Man Overboard" button almost immediately after
the collision. The GPS position of collision in Appendix 12.3 is approximate. The
more reliable position of the collision is shown in Appendix 12.7 (F5). See also
paragraph 10.9 of the Final Report for the MCIB’s findings in this regard.

26/27.See paragraph 10.4 and Recommendation 11.3 of the Final Report.

28. The MCIB has considered the conduct of the Pilot on the night and concludes
that the Pilot did nothing wrong.

The MCIB’s comments regarding the Dublin Port Authority are set out in
paragraphs 10.4 and 11.3 of the Final Report.

It should also be noted that there was no problem with the "Debonair’s"
position at F3 or F4. It is after this however that the "Debonair" moves to port
towards the "Bluebird" thus creating a close-quarter situation and ultimately a
collision. Prior to the collision the Pilot tried to alert the "Debonair’s" crew by
sounding the whistle which was an appropriate response in the circumstances
and was more expedient than radio contact.

109

CONTD. CORRESPONDENCE



29 (a) Noted. However the "Debonair" crew should have ascertained what Marine
Notices and/or Bye-Laws applied as part of their passage plan.

(b) Noted. But see (a) above. The MCIB’s conclusion is that Mr. Daley was not
aware of Dublin Port Company’s Marine Notice to Mariners No. 7 of 2001.
We cannot and do not conclude that all or any of the other crewmembers
were not aware of this Marine Notice. However it is clear that the
"Debonair" did not comply with this Marine Notice as it was in the fairway
channel when it should not have been.

Also notwithstanding the Dublin Port Company Notice to Mariners and Bye-
Law regulations, all small craft are required to comply with Rule 9 of the
International Regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea, 1972, as
amended.

(c,d,e) Noted. See paragraphs 10.4 and 11.3 of Final Report.

(f) Noted.

(g) It is not correct to conclude that the Pilot did not wait. Your paragraph 12
recognises that the Pilot’s estimate of about 285º (True) was in fact 277º
(True). Also between 02:49:40 and 02:51:01 the "Bluebird" maintained a
steady course of 277º (True).

(h, i) Noted.

(j) The "Bluebird" was in mid-channel tending towards its starboard side. (see
Paragraph 10.9).

(k) Between 02.48.07 and 02.50.01 the course taken by the "Bluebird" was
normal for a vessel following the course of the channel (13º alteration) and
there was no danger in existence at this time. It was after F4 that the risk
of a collision was created by the "Debonair" altering course to port.

(l) We disagree. Both vessels were tracked and the track history of both vessels
was recorded. We don’t accept that Dublin Port could have anticipated the
sudden alteration of course by the "Debonair" in time to avoid this collision
and also ultimate responsibility rests with the Master of each vessel for
his/her vessel’s movements.

(m) This accident did not happen at a bend. 

The risk of a collision occurring was created by the "Debonair" suddenly
altering course to Port. The bend in question is not a “notorious bend”.
The "Bluebird" altered course by only 13 degrees and this collision took
place approx 500 metres from the bend.
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The MCIB is aware of 1 other incident which occurred near to the location of
this incident prior to the introduction of the new channel and bouyage system.
This incident occurred under a different bouyage system and circumstances.

30. We cannot accept these conclusions. See above.
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